2001

Utah v. Hammond : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a Final Judgement and Commitment in the Third District Court, Tooele, County, for three convictions in two separate cases before the Honorable Judge David S. Young on October 22, 2001, in which the Court found sentenced the defendant to consecutive time on each of the three counts of possession of a controlled substance, third degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i).

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Rule 26 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Utah Code 78-3a-909 (1996).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

There are two issues for review:

1. Did the trial court error in sentencing he defendant to consecutive time on each count without putting specific supporting facts on the record for such action?

2. Was Defendants's trial counsel ineffective in his representation in that he failed to raise pertinent issues of a conflict of interest and argue for concurrent time at sentencing?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. This Court has stated in State v. Legg, ___ P.3d ___ #192 (Utah Cr. App. 2001),
"A sentence will not be overturned on appeal unless the trial court has abused its discretion, failed to consider all legally relevant factors, or imposed a sentence that exceeds legally prescribed limits." State v. Nuttall, 861 P.2d 454, 457 (Utah Ct.App. 1993); accord State v. Schweitzer, 943 P.2d 649, 651 (Utah Ct.App. 1997)
2. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Defendant must show that defense counsel's representation "*fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,*" and that, but for the deficient representation, there is a "reasonable probability" that the result would have been different. . . . "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 2068 (1984).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

Any relevant text of constitutions, statutory provisions, or rules referenced in this brief and pertinent to the issues now before the court on appeal are contained herein or attached to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Brad Hammond was charged on June 22, 2001, in Case No. 011300256 with One Count of Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Second Degree Felony in violation

of Utah Code 58-37-8, alleging that on June 4, 2001 Mr. Hammond offered to sell methamphetamine to a police informant for \$30.00 (Record on Appeal, page 2). On August 27, 2001 Mr. Hammond pled guilty to a reduced charge of Possession of a Controlled Substance, a Third Degree Felony, and his case was set for sentencing (AR 12-19).

On June 15, 2001, in Case No. 011300257, Mr. Hammond was charged with a Second Degree Felony Possession with Intent to Distribute Cocaine; Third Degree Felony, Possession with Intent to Distribute Marijuana; Possession of Paraphernalia, a Class B misdemeanor. In that case Mr. Hammond pled to a reduced charge in Count I, Possession of a Controlled Substance a Third Degree Felony and Count II Possession with Intent to Distribute Marijuana, a Third Degree Felony and Count III was dismissed. (AR, 21-20).

The guilty pleas in both cases were taken on August 27, 2001. Mr. Hammond does not challenge the legitimacy of the pleas, nor has a review of the plea procedure on that date disclosed any failure to comply with Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 11. The two cases, involving the three felonies were set for sentencing. A pre-sentence investigation report was completed and Mr. Hammond filed objections to the report on October 10, 2001. (Ar 24-25). Apparently the report contained convictions for a "Brad Hammond" that was not the Mr. Hammond presently before the court. The report was corrected, the mistaken prior convictions were ordered to be removed from the report. The Court requested that in accordance with the request of Adult Probation and Parole that Mr. Hammond complete a 90 day diagnostic at the Utah State Prison. Mr. Hammond objected, requested to be sentenced at that time, and on October 22, 2001, the Court sentenced Mr. Hammond to prison for zero to five years, consecutively on each of his three Third Degree Felony convictions.(Ar 26-27).

On October 26, 2001, the attorney for Mr. Hammond, Douglas Hogan, filed a Motion to Review the Sentence and asked that the Court clarify its ruling and to re-sentence Mr. Hammond to concurrent time (Ar 28-30). The Court denied the motion and the Notice of Appeal was filed on November 15, 2001 (AR 36-37). Mr. Hammond now appeals his sentence and requests that this Court review the imposition of consecutive time on his prison commitments. As set forth above, Mr. Hammond does not challenge the legality of his pleas nor is it obvious from the record that there is any defect in the plea proceedings in which Mr. Hammond was convicted. At issue is the consecutive sentence and the ineffective assistance of counsel claim that Mr. Hammond raises alleging that his trial attorney failed to adequately represent him at sentencing.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts relevant to the appeal are taken from the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that were set forth in each case. Mr. Hammond was convicted of possession methamphetamine, cocaine and possessing marijuana with the intent to sell the marijuana (AR 33-35).

The original recommendation of Adult Probation and Parole was for a 90 day diagnostic evaluation at the Utah State Prison (AR. 24-25). However, that recommendation was based upon a report that contained three incorrect convictions (Transcript of Sentence, P. 5). There were two reckless driving citations and a Forcible Sexual Abuse conviction that were mistakenly attributed to Mr. Hammond in the report. Mr. Hammond declined to have the 90 day diagnostic performed on him and as a result the prosecution recommended prison. The Court imposed consecutive time on each case (AR 33-35).

At sentencing, the attorney for Mr. Hammond stated that an up-date to the pre-sentence

investigation report was completed which removed the erroneous convictions from Mr. Hammond's record and reflected Mr. Hammond's objections to being characterized as having sporadic employment (AR. 25).

Mr. Hogan, the defense counsel stated, " I've gone over the recommendations of the diagnostic with Mr. Hammond. It's my understanding that Mr. Hammond wishes to not participate in the diagnostic and he would prefer to be sentenced today your Honor, without the diagnostic." (T. 2-3).

The prosecutor provided, "Your Honor, if he's—if he's unwilling to undergo a diagnostic, it seems like it's not going to be very successful if he is put on probation; I don't think the Court has any alternative but prison." (T. 3).

The Court sentenced Mr. Hammond as follows, with no explanation as to the consecutive time implementation, "Okay. Zero to five on each of the three third-degree felonies, each to be consecutive to the other and a fine of \$500 on each and a surcharge to be applied to that on each. An the Court orders that you pay \$500 in recoupment. All right." (T. 3).

There is no factual basis in the transcript or in the written Findings of Fact for the pleas to support the imposition of consecutive time on all three convictions (T. 1-3), (AR. 34-35). Mr. Hammond appeals the sentence of consecutive time on two grounds, one the ineffective assistance of his counsel to object to the sentence or argue for concurrent time, and two, the lack of supporting factual basis for the imposition of consecutive time.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Hammond has two issues for appeal, first that the trial court improperly sentenced him to consecutive time on all three felony cases when he has no significant criminal history, does

not present a significant danger to the community, has a stable residence and the ability to work. Additionally, he was not presented with the opportunity to participate in drug treatment or counseling or engage in cognitive restructuring. Mr. Hammond submits that the Court's sentence of consecutive time on all of the charges was an abuse of discretion.

Second, Mr. Hammond submits that his trial attorney was ineffective in his representation of him during the case. Mr. Hammond alleges he negotiated his own plea agreement without the help of counsel. Although there is no ability to provide supporting evidence of this, Mr. Hammond states that he essentially represented himself up to sentencing and that his counsel failed to even argue for concurrent time. It is this last allegation that is supported by documentation. There is no record of counsel arguing to the trial court that Mr. Hammond should get counseling, treatment or probation in lieu of prison. Nor is there any record that the defense attorney argued for concurrent time rather than consecutive time on all three convictions.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE: THE COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT IMPOSED CONSECUTIVE TIME ON ALL THREE COUNTS WITHOUT ANY SUPPORTING FACTUAL BASIS.

Defendant submits that the trial court abused its discretion in sentencing him to consecutive time on all three felony cases. Mr. Hammond does not have an extensive criminal history, he has never had the opportunity for drug rehabilitation, cognitive restructuring or any therapeutic intervention in lieu of incarceration. Additionally, alternatives such as county jail time, an ankle monitor or intensive supervision by Adult Probation & Parole was not explored as option for prison.

Mr Hammond asserts that the trial court became angered when he did not want to go to a 90 day diagnostic at the prison and the court as a punitive measure for that decision sentenced

Mr. Hammond to consecutive time in prison. Mr. Hammond asserts that this judicial action was an abuse of discretion.

In Utah Code Section 76-3-401(4), the statute states that concurrent time should be the norm and directs the court to "consider the gravity and circumstances of the offenses and the history, character, and rehabilitative needs of the defendant in determining whether to impose consecutive sentences".

Mr. Hammond alleges that his lack of significant criminal history, the short duration of his criminal behavior, his lack of prior treatment or therapy and his rehabilitative needs indicate a sentence of either county jail or concurrent prison time. He alleges the judge was abusive in his sentence.

"An abuse of discretion may be manifest if the actions of the judge in sentencing were 'inherently unfair' or if the judge imposed a 'clearly excessive' sentence." State v. Russell, 791 P.2d 188, 192-93 (Utah 1990) (citation omitted). "The exercise of discretion in sentencing necessarily reflects the personal judgment of the court and the appellate court can properly find abuse only if it can be said that no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." State v. Gerrard, 584 P.2d 885, 887 (Utah 1978). Furthermore, "this discretion is not to be surrendered to a mathematical formula by which numbers of circumstances rather than weight of circumstances are determinative. The overriding consideration is that the sentence be just. One factor in mitigation or aggravation may weigh more than several factors on the opposite scale." Russell, 791 P.2d at 192.", Legg, above.

In Legg, the distinguishing issue was that the defense attorney raised the issues listed in the state statute governing concurrent or consecutive time and the judge did not find the issues

compelling. Additionally, Legg, had a lengthy criminal history and many other aggravating factors not present here.

Mr Hammond asserts that had his trial counsel made any argument at all to address the mitigating factors or asked for an alternative the result may well have been different. The trial court's imposition of consecutive time absent any of the aggravating factors in Legg, or the state statute clearly shows that the trial judge was angry at Mr. Hammond about the diagnostic and as a result abused his discretion in sentencing Mr. Hammond to consecutive prison time.

POINT TWO: TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT ARGUING FOR CONCURRENT TIME ON THE THREE FELONY CONVICTIONS.

Defendant's second claim of error is that his trial attorney was ineffective for failing to argue to the trial court that Mr. Hammond should be given an opportunity for drug rehabilitation rather than prison, counseling intensive probation, an ankle monitor or anything other than straight incarceration. When the trial court ordered consecutive time the trial attorney did not try to argue for concurrent time or ask the court for additional time in which to respond to the concurrent versus consecutive prison sentence issue.

As set forth in Legg, the trial attorney has a duty to argue for mitigating sentencing factors and the record clearly shows that the attorney did not do so in this case. In order to establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Defendant must show that defense counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness," and that, but for the deficient representation, there is a "reasonable probability" that the result would have been different. . . . "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome" Strickland v.

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 2068 (1984).

In Mr Hammond's argument above the trial attorney had to have raised the mitigating factors at sentencing for the court to consider the factors. Without raising the factors the court could not reach the issues. See State v. Pierson 274, 12 P.3d 103 (Utah Cr. App. 2000)" Abuse of discretion `may be manifest if the actions of the judge in sentencing were "inherently unfair" or if the judge imposed a clearly excessive sentence.'" State v. Houk, 906 P.2d 907, 909 (Utah Ct.App. 1995) (citations omitted); see also State v. McCovey, 803 P.2d 1234, 1235 (Utah 1990) (finding abuse of discretion when court fails to consider all legally relevant factors or when sentence imposed is clearly excessive). Here, the court could not consider all of the relevant factors if the trial attorney did not raise the issues.