2001

Utah v. Hammond : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from the trial court's imposition of three consecutive sentences of zero-to-five years in the Utah State Prison for two counts of possession or use of a controlled substance and one count of possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute, all third degree felonies. This Court has appellate jurisdiction over the case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(f)(1996).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL AND
STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Did the trial court abuse its discretion either by failing to consider certain statutory factors or by inadequately weighing them prior to imposing consecutive sentences?

A sentence will not be overturned on appeal unless the trial court has abused its discretion, failed to consider all legally relevant factors, or imposed a sentence that exceeds legally

prescribed limits. State v. Gibbons, 779 P.2d 1133, 1135 (Utah 1989) (citations omitted). The Utah Supreme Court has noted that "the exercise of discretion in sentencing necessarily reflects the personal judgment of the court and the appellate court can properly find abuse only if it can be said that no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." State v. Gerrard, 584 P.2d 885, 887 (Utah 1978).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401, governing concurrent and consecutive sentences, provides in pertinent part:

(1) A court shall determine, if a defendant has been adjudged guilty of more than one felony offense, whether to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences for the offenses. Sentences for state offenses shall run concurrently unless the court states in the sentence that they shall run consecutively.

. . .

(4) A court shall consider the gravity and circumstances of the offenses and the history, character, and rehabilitative needs of the defendant in determining whether to impose consecutive sentences.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1), -401(4) (1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant was charged with one count of distributing or arranging to distribute a controlled substance (methamphetamine), a second degree felony (R. 1-2). He eventually pled guilty to one count of possession or use of a controlled substance, a third

degree felony (R. 12-19). At sentencing, the trial court considered the charge in this case as well as two other drug-related third degree felonies to which defendant had pled in another case (R. 26-27, R. 49 at 2). The court then sentenced defendant to three consecutive terms of zero-to-five years in the Utah State Prison (R. 26, R. 49 at 3). Defendant filed a motion for review of the sentence to clarify the reasons underlying the consecutive sentences (R. 28-29). After a hearing on the matter, the court issued findings of fact and conclusions of law, reaffirming its decision to impose consecutive sentences (R. 33-35 at addendum A). Defendant filed this timely appeal (R. 37).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The undisputed facts, taken in their entirety from the court's findings of fact, are as follows:

1. A guilty plea of Illegal Possession or Use of a Controlled Substance, a third degree felony has been entered in case number 0011300257 on August 27, 2001.^[1]
2. A second guilty plea of Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance, a third degree Felony has been entered in case number 0011300257 on August 27, 2001.
3. A third guilty plea of Illegal Possession or Use of a Controlled Substance, a third degree felony has been entered in case number

¹ The charges listed in the first two findings of fact arose from a no-knock search warrant executed on defendant's home on June 8, 2001 (PSR at 3).

0011300256 on August 27, 2001.[²]

4. On October 10, 2001, the defendant objected to the Presentence Investigation Report as having errors.

5. On October 17, 2001, the Court accepted Defendant's objections to the PSI and noted that defendant was instrumental in enabling his son to become involved in the drug culture.

6. The Court further noted that the defendant has a significant drug problem and did not appear amenable to probation.

7. The Court, having heard from the defendant and the defendant's demeanor [sic] concluded that the defendant should not be placed upon probation and the defendant was likely to continue violating the law and was a danger to the community.

8. The recommendation of Adult Probation and Parole suggested that a diagnostic evaluation would be appropriate.

9. Defendant refused to participate in a sixty day diagnostic evaluation at the Utah State Prison.

(R. 34-35 at addendum A). Based on these undisputed facts, the court then sentenced defendant to three consecutive terms of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison (R. 33 at addendum A). The court also levied a fine of \$1500 and fees of \$1275 (Id.).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant argues either that the trial court abused its discretion by ordering consecutive sentences without considering

² This is the charge in the current case, which arose from a controlled buy at defendant's home on June 4, 2001 (PSR at 2).

certain statutory factors or, alternatively, that it considered those factors inadequately. Defendant has not demonstrated that the trial court failed to consider the factors. First, the record reflects that the sentencing court had before it information addressing defendant's criminal history, and the court specifically acknowledged having considered it. Second, because defendant himself, by consciously declining a diagnostic evaluation, precluded the court from accessing information about his rehabilitative needs and appropriate sentencing alternatives, he cannot now complain that the court failed to consider that factor. Similarly, he cannot argue that his counsel's failure to advocate for concurrent sentences constituted ineffective assistance of counsel where, through declining a diagnostic evaluation, he precluded the court from accessing the very information on which his counsel could conceivably have advocated for leniency.

Alternatively, as to weighing the statutory factors, that is the job of the trial court, which was in the best position to make the highly individualistic assessment inherent in the sentencing decision. While defendant may have weighed the factors differently, it cannot be said that no reasonable person would have agreed with the sentencing court. Consequently, the court did not abuse its considerable discretion by imposing consecutive sentences.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION BY FAILING TO CONSIDER
CERTAIN STATUTORY FACTORS OR BY
IMPROPERLY WEIGHING THEM PRIOR TO
IMPOSING CONSECUTIVE SENTENCES

Defendant's argument on appeal is not clear. Either he is arguing that the trial court abused its discretion by ordering consecutive sentences without giving adequate weight to several of the statutory factors specified in Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(4) (1999), or he is arguing that the court abused its discretion by not considering those factors at all. See Br. of App. at 6-7. In either case, defendant asserts that the court acted out of anger and ordered consecutive sentences to punish defendant for declining a diagnostic evaluation prior to sentencing (R. 6-7, 8).

Neither of defendant's two possible arguments has merit. Section 76-3-401 of the Utah Code, governing the trial court's authority to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences, directs the court to "consider the gravity and circumstances of the offenses and the history, character, and rehabilitative needs of the defendant in determining whether to impose consecutive sentences." Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(4). A trial court may thus abuse its discretion if it imposes consecutive sentences without considering the statutory factors, which are all legally relevant to the sentencing determination. See, e.g., State v.

McCovey, 803 P.2d 1234, 1235 (Utah 1990); State v. Montoya, 929 P.2d 356, 358 (Utah App. 1996). To prevail on appeal, the defendant must affirmatively show that "the trial court failed to consider the appropriate factors." State v. Helms, 2002 UT 12, ¶15, 40 P.3d 626.³

If defendant is asserting that the sentencing court did not consider either his history or his rehabilitative needs before imposing consecutive sentences, he has failed to make the required showing. The presentence investigation report contains a full criminal history as well as a personal history, including defendant's family situation, employment history, drug and alcohol history, and present living situation. See PSR at pp. 5-9. The trial court explicitly stated that it had reviewed the report prior to sentencing. See Tr. of 11/13/01 at 3-5 or addendum B; cf. Helms, 2002 UT 12 at ¶ 11 ("we will not assume that the trial court's silence, by itself, presupposes that the court did not consider the proper factors as required by law"); State v. Schweitzer, 943 P.2d 649, 652 (Utah App. 1997) (defendant did not show that the trial court failed to consider statutory

³ The sentencing court, however, is not bound to enter specific findings to justify its consecutive sentencing order, although the record must contain evidence from which such findings could be reasonably made. Helms, 2002 UT 12 at ¶¶ 11, 17 (citations omitted).

factors where the record contained mitigating evidence).⁴

The record demonstrates that the trial court acted within the ambit of its discretion in ordering consecutive sentences. At the clarification hearing, the court noted that defendant had "decided to get pretty actively involved in the drug business" (Id.). The court stated:

I'll tell you, really, what my thinking was at the time [of sentencing]. I have had your son in this Court and I believe that you have had a corrupting influence on him and others around you. Your age and circumstance tell me you ought to have a little more maturity than what you were doing in the criminal effort here. And I thought that consecutive sentences were appropriate to you because of your circumstances and your willingness to be involved in crime.

Tr. of 11/13/01 Hearing at 4. This statement reflects the court's serious concern with the kind of ties defendant had with his "community" and with his own familial influence. While defendant had only one other drug charge in his criminal history, the record indicated that he was a high risk because of his "drug and alcohol abuse, sporadic employment and attitude." PSR at 9. Moreover, his active level of involvement with "the drug business" was plainly attested to by his two arrests within five

⁴ Moreover, after the court had ordered consecutive sentences, defendant requested a hearing to clarify the sentence (R. 28-29). At that hearing, the court reassured defendant that errors in the presentence investigation report had been noted prior to sentencing (Tr. of 11/13/01 Hearing at 5). Thus, no extraneous factors influenced the sentencing decision.

days for multiple drug-related felonies. Id. at 2-3. Finally, defendant had been a fugitive from justice for over two months when he was apprehended, a factor which no doubt did little to enhance his standing with the court. Id. at 3.

In addition, the court cited to defendant's refusal to participate in a diagnostic evaluation with the Department of Corrections, observing, "You said you didn't feel that would be beneficial and you know what your circumstances are." Tr. of 11/13/01 Hearing at 5. Defendant's refusal to participate in a diagnostic evaluation significantly influenced the court's sentencing decision, although not for the punitive reason defendant suggests.⁵

A diagnostic evaluation is an important tool available to a court when it is "of the opinion [that] imprisonment may be appropriate but desires more detailed information as a basis for determining the sentence to be imposed than has been provided by the presentence report." Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-404(1)(a)(i) (1999). By exercising its discretion in favor of this evaluative tool, the court was plainly seeking more in-depth information

⁵ Defendant contends that the sentencing court "punished" his refusal to participate in a diagnostic evaluation by ordering that his sentences run consecutively (Br. of App. at 5-6, 8). This contention, however, is purely speculative, both lacking in record support and requiring an unreasonable inferential leap. As such, it fails from the outset. Cf. Fernandez v. Cook, 870 P.2d 870, 877 (Utah 1993) ("proof of ineffective assistance of cannot be a speculative matter but must be a demonstrable reality").

about "the rehabilitative resources or programs . . . available to suit [defendant's] needs." Id. at section 76-3-404(1)(a)(ii)(E). Defendant's affirmative choice not to participate in this information-gathering process thus bars him from asserting on appeal that the court did not adequately consider his rehabilitative needs. State v. Perdue, 813 P.2d 1201, 1205 (Utah App. 1991) (discussing invited error doctrine).⁶ Moreover, the court was well within its discretion in considering defendant's obstructionist attitude as a factor in its decision to order consecutive sentences. See State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 939 (Utah 1994) (sentencing court's assessment of defendant's character may be based, at least in part, on the court's personal observation of defendant's body language, demeanor, and tone of voice).

Because the record indicates that the sentencing court had before it information addressing defendant's history, the court did not abuse its discretion by failing to consider that factor. Helms, 2002 UT 12 at ¶11. And because defendant himself

⁶ For the same reason, defendant's assertion of ineffective assistance of counsel must fail. He cannot claim that his counsel performed deficiently when, by his own affirmative action, he precluded access to the very information on which his counsel might have based an argument that he merited concurrent sentences or that rehabilitation should rightly take precedence over punishment. That is, where defendant makes a strategic choice at trial, he is precluded from arguing on appeal that the result of that choice stemmed from ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. Bullock, 791 P.2d 155, 159 (Utah 1989).

precluded the court from accessing specific information about appropriate rehabilitative resources and programs, he cannot now complain that the court failed to consider that factor. Perdue, 813 P.2d at 1205.

Alternatively, if on appeal defendant is arguing that the trial court abused its discretion by according certain statutory factors insufficient weight in fashioning an appropriate sentence, that argument must also fail. The trial court, not an appellate court, is plainly in the most advantaged position to make the highly individualistic assessments required in sentencing decisions. See State v. Woodland, 945 P.2d 665, 671 (Utah 1997) (sentencing "necessarily reflects the personal judgment of the court"). In deciding the appropriateness of a particular sentence, a trial court must consider many intangibles, such as the defendant's "character, personality, and attitude, of which the cold record gives little inkling." State v. Sibert, 310 P.2d 388, 393 (Utah 1957); see also State v. McClendon, 611 P.2d 728, 729 (Utah 1980). Also within the court's discretion is the determination that punishment for the crime should take precedence over rehabilitation. See State v. Nuttall, 861 P.2d 454, 458 (Utah App. 1993) ("trial court did not abuse its discretion by placing more emphasis on punishing defendant rather than rehabilitating him"). Where the trial court here had a direct opportunity to weigh all the factors

contributing to its assessment of defendant's credibility, that judgment and the resultant weight accorded each of the sentencing factors should not be revisited by a reviewing court armed only with a "cold record." See, e.g., Woodland, 945 P.2d at 671; Sibert, 310 P.2d at 393.


Under the circumstances of this case, while defendant did not agree with the court's sentence, it cannot be said that "no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." State v. Gerrard, 584 P.2d 885, 887 (Utah 1978). Consequently, the court did not abuse its discretion in imposing consecutive prison terms.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should affirm defendant's consecutive sentences for three counts of possession or use of a controlled substance, all third degree felonies.